RECEIVED

Nov 25 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2024-000013

Administrative Law Court Case No. 19-ALJ-17-0416-CC

Tractor Supply Company,..... Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,..... Respondent.

APPELLANT TRACTOR SUPPLY COMPANY'S FINAL OPENING BRIEF

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP

C. Mitchell Brown (SC Bar No. 12872)

E-Mail: mitch.brown@nelsonmullins.com

Bryson M. Geer (SC Bar No. 13606)

E-Mail: bryson.geer@nelsonmullins.com

John C. von Lehe, Jr. (SC Bar No. 5719)

INTRODUCTION

This case should involve the use by the South Carolina Department of Revenue (the “Department”) of its § 482 powers to adjust the price of an allegedly high transfer pricing payment to a related party. However, because the Department chose not to use these powers, the Administrative Law Court (the “ALC”) improperly traveled down the inapplicable, erroneous, and complex path reflected in these proceedings in which the ALC misapplied the alternative apportionment statute at S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2320¹ (the “AA Statute”) against Tractor Supply Company (“TSC”).

South Carolina only seeks to tax the portion of a multistate taxpayer’s total income derived from its business activity in this state. If 10% of a taxpayer’s total business activity occurs here, then South Carolina seeks to tax only 10% of that taxpayer’s total business income. Apportionment methods are designed to determine that fraction, which is then multiplied by the taxpayer’s total business income to calculate the income apportioned to this state.

On the other hand, apportionment methods are *not* designed to determine or calculate the amount of a taxpayer’s total business income. That is determined by a different set of rules, and in South Carolina, it starts with the taxpayer’s federal taxable income (“FTI”). A taxpayer’s total business income is its FTI, as modified by state law adjustments, less income (generally non-business income) that is first allocated to a particular state.

The required apportionment method for TSC is the sales factor (i.e., TSC’s South Carolina sales divided by its everywhere sales), and its sales factor for the Audit Period is just shy of 3% because just under 3% of its total sales occurred in this state. If that sales factor did not properly measure the portion of TSC’s everywhere business activity that occurred in this

¹ All code sections are from the South Carolina Code of Laws Annotated unless otherwise noted.

state, the AA Statute allows the Department to require a different method to accomplish what the sales factor was intended to but failed to accomplish. When an alternative method is required, restrictions are necessary to protect taxpayers from agency overreach, namely the method must be reasonable, equitable, and one that (like the sales factor) apportions a fraction of TSC's total business income to this state for taxation. *See* § 12-6-2320(A)(4).

To invoke the AA Statute, the Department must first prove TSC's sales factor did not fairly represent the portion of TSC's business activity that occurred in this state. However, the ALC applied the wrong legal standard and required the Department prove *separate reporting* (versus the sales factor) did not fairly represent the portion of TSC's business activity that occurred here. Separate reporting is not an apportionment method; it is a tax filing method, and unlike the sales factor, it is not intended nor designed to measure a taxpayer's South Carolina business activity. The ALC then found that wrong standard satisfied because of a business expense deduction taken by TSC for its payments to an affiliate, TSC of Texas, in exchange for the latter procuring inventory (among other things) for TSC to sell in its retail stores. The AA Statute was invoked based on the existence of this deduction (and no allegation of it being improperly high), and the ALC then found use of the AA Statute proper based on the ALC's belief the deduction was too high—a belief it reached not because the Department presented evidence showing the price paid to TSC of Texas was *not* an arm's length price but instead because the ALC determined TSC failed to prove the price *was* an arm's length price. That is improper burden shifting under any standard, including the wrong standard applied here. Moreover, while an improperly high deduction would reduce TSC's FTI below where it should be, the AA Statute is not intended to fix a problem with a taxpayer's FTI.

Furthermore, the ALC also erred by misconstruing the AA Statute to allow the

Department to require combined unitary reporting (“CUR”) as the alternative “apportionment” method. CUR is an alternative tax filing method that combines the FTI of all members of a unitary group (including ones with no nexus to South Carolina) and then uses an apportionment method to apportion the combined income here. The ALC should have found the Department could not use the AA Statute this way as it is contrary to the plain language of the statute and its legislative intent.

In sum, the ALC’s conclusions in this case are forcing a square peg into a round hole by applying the AA Statute in a context it was never intended to (and does not) apply. The ALC is, respectfully, not properly applying the AA Statute or the requirements of the Administrative Procedures Act (the “APA”) and is failing to consider both the lack of evidence presented by the Department as well as the substantial evidence presented by TSC supporting its positions. Thus, the Order should, respectfully, be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE ALC ERR BY APPLYING THE WRONG LEGAL STANDARD FOR STEP ONE OF THE AA STATUTE?
- II. DID THE ALC ERR BY FINDING CUR AUTHORIZED UNDER STEP TWO OF THE AA STATUTE IN THIS CASE?
- III. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING THE DEPARTMENT MET ITS BURDEN OF PROOF UNDER THE WRONG STANDARD FOR STEP ONE OF THE AA STATUTE?
- IV. DID THE ALC ERR IN CONCLUDING CUR IS REASONABLE AND EQUITABLE UNDER STEP TWO OF THE AA STATUTE?
- V. DID THE ALC ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE APA WAS NOT VIOLATED?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a protest by TSC of an assessment of corporate income taxes by the Department for the tax years January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2016 (the “Audit Period”).

TSC filed its tax returns for these years using the statutorily required apportionment method (the sales factor). The Department's assessment and audit, which the Determination affirmed, alleged that TSC's business activity was not fairly represented here, invoked the AA Statute to impose CUR, and assessed additional tax of \$1,383,064 plus interest. TSC filed a request for contested case hearing with the ALC on December 11, 2019. The ALC held a five-day hearing from January 23 to 27, 2023 and issued a Final Order (the "Initial Order") on August 8, 2023. TSC filed a motion for reconsideration of that order on August 18, 2023. On August 21, 2023, the ALC entered an order rescinding its Initial Order pending disposition of TSC's motion. On December 4, 2023, the ALC entered two orders: a Reconsideration Order, which, while stating it granted TSC's motion, did not grant the relief requested and contained the same result as the prior order (albeit with additional bases/analysis), and an Amended Final Order (the "Order") (also with additional bases/analysis). TSC filed a second reconsideration motion on December 14, 2023. On January 3, 2024, TSC filed its notice of appeal. That same day, the ALC issued an order denying TSC's second reconsideration motion, and TSC filed an amended notice of appeal as to all three orders. The parties then filed a Joint Motion to recognize the inapplicability of the automatic stay to the ALC's Order on TSC's second reconsideration motion, which this Court granted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. TSC Entities and Operations

TSC is a publicly traded parent corporation of an affiliated group of entities that operate retail farm and ranch stores in the United States, which offer an extensive mix of products necessary to care for home, land, pets, and animals. *See, e.g.*, R. 2890, 2014 TSC Annual Report and 10-K ("Annual Report"). TSC is headquartered in Brentwood, Tennessee (R. 449:15-19),

and it, along with TSC of Texas and TSC of Michigan (collectively, the “the TSC Group”) had between 1,382 to 1,738 stores during the Audit Period. R. 2891, 2963, and 3041, Annual Rpts.

TSC owns and operates retail stores in all states except Texas and Michigan, which is approximately 80% of the total retail stores owned by the TSC Group. *See* R. 1245:3-8. TSC operated 32 to 42 retail stores in South Carolina during the Audit Period and is the only entity in the TSC Group with business activity in this state. *Id.* at 1246:11-14 and 1291:11-14; R. 2913, 2987, and 3066, Annual Rpts.

TSC of Texas owned and operated between 145 to 196 retail stores in Texas during the Audit Period. R. 2913, 2987, and 3066, Annual Rpts. TSC of Texas also (1) owns marketing-related intangibles used by the TSC Group; (2) procures inventory from third parties that is ultimately sold by the TSC Group’s stores; and (3) develops private label goods manufactured on its behalf and sold by the TSC Group’s stores. R. 1245:19-1246:3; 878:15-24; R. 3126, TSC Org. Structure. TSC of Michigan owned and operated between 77 to 81 retail stores in Michigan during the Audit Period. R. 1246:4-6; R. 2913, 2987, and 3066, Annual Rpts.

B. 2001 Restructuring

The current TSC Group structure has been in place since 2001. R. 1246:18-22. Prior to then, it existed as a single entity (only TSC). *Id.* In the mid-1990s, TSC went public and began trying to expand at a faster rate. *Id.* at 1247:11-859:14. It wanted to increase its purchasing power, grow the procurement function, and reduce the risk of reliance on distributors and vendors. *Id.* at 1249:15-1252:8. As a result of these and other goals, including tax efficiency, the current structure was implemented in the 2001 Restructure. *See id.* at 1254:14-1256:14; 1258:4-1259:6. The ALC correctly found tax planning is not wrongful and is often part of good business planning and tax advice. *See* R. 67, n. 5, Order. It correctly did not find TSC had no business

purpose for the 2001 Restructuring or that tax minimization was the only goal of the restructuring. *Id.*

C. Procurement and Licensing Activities

The procurement function performed by TSC of Texas is highly evolved and unique and includes identifying, sourcing, negotiating, and qualifying vendors and their products; inventory management; global sourcing; and developing private TSC-branded products with reliable supply chain availability, consistent high quality, and attractive pricing. *See generally* R. 1259:19-1268:14. TSC of Texas charged a 9.7% markup on the cost of inventory sold to TSC and TSC of Michigan. *See* R. 3826, Inventory Procurement Agr. TSC selected the price based on a transfer pricing study prepared by PwC Study. *See infra* Facts §D. TSC of Texas also licenses intellectual property (“IP”) to TSC. R. 485:20-486:6. TSC’s IP is a “valuable asset[]” of the business and has “significant value and is an important component of [its] merchandising and marketing strategies.” *See, e.g.,* R. 2903, Annual Rpt; R. 4441, Licensing Agr. TSC of Texas did not charge for use of its IP during the Audit Period (and if it had, TSC would owe less tax to South Carolina), but a charge would have been justified.

D. PwC Transfer Pricing Study

TSC uses transfer pricing studies to price the procurement activities performed by TSC of Texas and has a study performed about every three years. R. 1278:3-8. PwC prepared the transfer pricing study (the “PwC Study”) used during the Audit Period. R. 3762, PwC Study. Based on its results, TSC of Texas charging a 9.7% markup on the inventory it sold to TSC and TSC of Michigan was an arm’s length price. *Id.* The PwC Study also determined the amount TSC of Texas could charge TSC and TSC of Michigan as a licensing fee for use of its IP and concluded an arm’s length price to be between a 1.7% to 7.5% markup (in addition to the 9.7% markup for

procurement) on the inventory sold to TSC and TSC of Michigan. *Id.* at 3804-3806. TSC of Texas did not charge a licensing fee during the Audit Period to allow its affiliates to grow the brand and remain profitable. *Id.* at 3764; R. 486:7-24; R. 3823, TSC Memo re: 482 Study.

The Department ignores transfer pricing prior to litigation. *See infra* Facts §F. It does not evaluate whether a transfer pricing report is accurate during audits, and whether a price is an arm's length price is irrelevant to the decision of whether to require CUR. *Id.*; *see also* R. 2082:4-19. During this litigation (many years after TSC used the 9.7% procurement markup recommended by the PwC Study and years after the Department required CUR), TSC learned from its transfer pricing expert (Andrade) that the PwC Study did not use the most reliable transfer pricing method for pricing the procurement activities. Thus, more analysis was warranted to determine whether the 9.7% markup was an arm's length price, so Andrade performed his own transfer pricing analysis that confirmed it was. *See infra* Argument §III(B).

E. Tax Returns: As Filed (Separate Reporting) versus Audited (CUR)

For the Audit Period, TSC filed its South Carolina tax returns as required by law, and specifically (as is relevant here) it used separate reporting as its filing method and the sales factor as its apportionment method, which the Department agrees was correct. R. 3631-3698, TSC SC Tax Returns. TSC thus calculated its tax owed by starting with its FTI, followed by required state law modifications, and then a fraction of that amount is apportioned to this state using the sales factor. *Id.* The sales factor is used to measure the South Carolina portion of TSC's everywhere business activity—it is fraction, and the numerator is TSC's sales in South Carolina and the denominator is TSC's sales everywhere (i.e., in all states TSC conducts business). *Id.* TSC's

sales factor for the collective Audit Period was approximately 2.83%. *Id.*² Thus, TSC apportioned approximately 2.83% of its total income subject to apportionment to South Carolina during the Audit Period.³ TSC's total income subject to apportionment for the collective Audit Period is \$476,647,218,⁴ its sales factor (approximately 2.83%) is used to apportion that amount to South Carolina, which was then taxed at the 5% corporate tax rate, ultimately causing TSC's tax due (and paid) to South Carolina for the Audit Period to be \$675,135. *Id.*⁵

The Department audited TSC and required the use of CUR. *See* R. 3715, Audit Report. Mechanically, CUR calculates tax owed to South Carolina the same as described above except that CUR replaces "TSC" with the "TSC Group" until it is time to pay the tax, which TSC must pay. CUR starts with the TSC Group's FTI, followed by the same state law modifications, and then a fraction of that amount is apportioned to this state using the TSC Group's sales factor, which is the TSC Group's sales in South Carolina (but only TSC has sales here) divided by the TSC Group's sales everywhere. *See* R. 3700, Corporate Working Papers. For the collective Audit Period, the TSC Group's sales factor is approximately 2.32% (*id.*⁶), its total income subject to apportionment is \$1,773,555,096,⁷ approximately 2.32% of that amount was apportioned to South Carolina⁸ and taxed at the 5% corporate tax rate, and the tax due under CUR (borne by TSC)

² TSC's sales factor was approximately 2.79% for 2014, 2.82% for 2015, and 2.88% for 2016. *Id.* The sales factor for the collective Audit Period (2.83%) is calculated as total SC sales in 2014-16 divided by total everywhere sales. *Id.*

³ More specifically, it apportioned 2.79% of its total income subject to apportionment to South Carolina in 2014, 2.82% in 2015, and 2.88% in 2016. *Id.*

⁴ By year, it was \$148,476,938 for 2014, \$154,547,508 for 2015, and \$173,622,722 for 2016. *Id.*

⁵ TSC's tax due was \$206,866 for 2014, \$217,835 for 2015 and \$250,434 for 2016. *Id.*

⁶ The TSC Group's sales factor was approximately 2.28% for 2014, 2.31% for 2015, and 2.37% for 2016. *Id.* The average TSC Group's sales factor for the collective Audit Period (2.32%) is calculated as total SC sales in 2014-16 divided by total everywhere sales. *Id.*

⁷ By year, it was \$569,699,814 for 2014, \$593,633,362 for 2015, and \$610,221,920 for 2016. *Id.*

⁸ By year, the amount apportioned to South Carolina for taxation was \$12,989,725 in 2014, \$13,702,839 in 2015, and \$14,471,413 in 2016. *Id.*

for the Audit Period was \$2,058,199. *Id.*⁹ The Department’s Corporate Working Papers provide a useful comparison of TSC’s tax returns as filed (Reported column) versus using CUR (Audited column):

Corporate Adjustments Summary for 2014

	Reported	Audited
1. Federal Taxable Income	\$130,998,512	\$552,221,388
2. Net Adjustment	\$17,478,426	\$17,478,426
3. Total Net Income as Reconciled	\$148,476,938	\$569,699,814
4. Total South Carolina Net Income	\$4,137,310	\$12,989,725
5. South Carolina Net Operating Loss Carryover	\$0	\$0
6. South Carolina Net Income Subject to Tax	\$4,137,310	\$12,989,725
7. Corporation Tax Due	\$206,866	\$649,486

See R. 3701. Line 1 is FTI, line 2 contains the state law modifications, line 3 is the income subject to apportionment, and the respective sales factor is applied to the amount on line 3 to arrive at line 4 (i.e., the income apportioned to this state), which is ultimately taxed at the 5% tax rate to reach the tax due on line 7. *Id.* Using 2014 as an example, the income subject to apportionment using CUR is \$569,699,814, but only 26.1% of that is TSC’s income (\$148,476,938) with the remaining 73.9% coming from TSC of Texas and TSC of Michigan, neither of which are South Carolina taxpayers. Further, CUR apportioned \$12,989,725 to South Carolina in 2014, which is 8.75% of TSC’s total income subject to apportionment (\$148,476,938) despite only 2.79% (TSC’s 2014 sales factor) of TSC’s total sales occurring in South Carolina. Similar outcomes occur for 2015 and 2016. When CUR is used for the Audit Period collectively, only 26.9% (\$476,647,218) of the total income subject to apportionment under CUR (\$1,773,555,096) is TSC’s income, and the remaining 73.1% belongs to TSC of Texas and TSC of Michigan. In addition, despite only 2.83% of TSC’s total sales occurring in South Carolina during the Audit Period, CUR apportioned \$41,163,977 to this state, which is

⁹ The tax due under CUR was \$649,486 for 2014, \$685,142 for 2015 and \$723,571 for 2016. *Id.*

8.64% of TSC's total income subject to apportionment (\$476,647,218).

F. S.C. Revenue Ruling 15-5, Department 30(b)(6) Witness, and the Audit

The Department issued S.C. Revenue Ruling 15-5 on June 12, 2015 (i.e., midway through the Audit Period). R. 3724 (“Rev. Rul. 15-5”). The Department did not consider promulgating it as a regulation. R. 2044:14-2045:21. Rev. Rul. 15-5 provides guidance on the Department’s interpretation and application of the AA Statute and confirms the party seeking to use the AA Statute “must factually identify why the use of the standard statutory apportionment method [here, TSC’s sales factor] does not fairly represent [TSC’s] business activity in South Carolina.” R. 3727. It also provides specific guidance for how the Department “analyz[es] whether the statutory formula [here, TSC’s sales factor] fairly represents [TSC’s] business activity in South Carolina” because it is a member of a unitary group. *Id.* at 3729. The guidance to both taxpayers and Department auditors consists of six vague factors that may be considered. *Id.* at 3729-30. It is unclear what the factors mean or how they will be applied, and none focus on the statutory formula (here, the sales factor) or attempt to analyze or measure South Carolina business activity. *Id.*¹⁰ The Department acknowledges it has § 482 powers, which allow it to adjust incorrect transfer prices, but it chooses not to use these powers. R. 2082:4-2083:16. During audits, the Department does not evaluate whether a transfer pricing report is accurate, and whether the price is at arm’s length is irrelevant to the decision of whether to require CUR. *Id.* at 2082:4-19.

The Department’s Audit Report concluded TSC’s business activities in South Carolina were not fairly represented because it found the TSC Group was a unitary business with

¹⁰ The Department’s witnesses do not understand what these factors mean or how to apply them. For example, the auditor testified factor 1 (amounts paid to related parties) means whether intercompany transactions exist (R. 691:5-11 and 692:4-303:9), but another Department witness said it means whether intercompany payments are paid via cash or recorded as journal entries. R. 2061:6-17. *See also* R. 2292, TSC’s Proposed Order (for additional examples).

intercompany transactions. *See* R. 3715, Audit Report. The Department made no fact findings as to TSC's business activity in South Carolina, which it found irrelevant and instead only looked at the business activity of the entire TSC group before invoking the AA Statute and requiring CUR. *Id.* and R. 2096:9-19; 2098:7-2099:13.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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