RECEIVED

Sep 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000013

Case No. 19-ALJ-17-0416-CC

Tractor Supply Company,.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,.....Respondent.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT TO THE AMICUS CURIAE BRIEF OF THE
CHAMBER OF COMMERCE OF THE UNITED STATES AND THE SOUTH CAROLINA
CHAMBER OF COMMERCE

Marcus D. Antley, III, Esquire (Bar No. 102176)
Senior Counsel, Tax
Thomas C. Hughes, Esquire (Bar No. 105166)
Associate Counsel
W. Allen Myrick, Esquire (Bar No. 14718)

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The Chambers' generic arguments about resolving statutory ambiguities in favor of taxpayers are wholly irrelevant to and detached from the issues on appeal because the Supreme Court has already held that the alternative apportionment provisions of Section 12-6-2320(A)(4) are clear and unambiguous.**

The Chambers devote two-thirds of their brief reciting basic platitudes about rules of statutory construction and predictable tax systems, but fail to address how these general rules are at all relevant to the specific statute at issue in this case (section 12-6-2320). (Chambers Br. at 10). The Chambers never identify which part(s) of section 12-6-2320 they contend are ambiguous and therefore should be construed in favor of TSC. Instead, they appear to apply a convoluted version of this principle, in reverse: because the Chambers believe the Administrative Law Court should have rules in favor of TSC, therefore the statute must be ambiguous and should be construed in TSC's favor.

Conspicuously absent from the Chambers' brief is any mention of the *Media General* case. As this Court is aware, in *Media General* the Supreme Court unequivocally held that the rules of statutory interpretation (e.g. construing ambiguous statutes in favor of taxpayers) were unnecessary with respect to section 12-6-2320(A)(4) because that statute—on its face—clearly and unambiguously authorizes the Department to use combined unitary reporting as an alternative apportionment method. *Media Gen. Commc'ns, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 388 S.C. 138, 151, 694 S.E.2d 525, 531 (2010). If there is no ambiguity, there is no need to employ statutory construction canons. *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) ("Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute."). Thus, regardless of whether the Chambers have accurately summarized the reasons that underscore the "established rule," that general rule is irrelevant where the Supreme Court has already held that this particular statute is not ambiguous. Omitting any discussion of *Media General* from the Chambers' brief does not make *Media General* any less binding or make the statute ambiguous.

For this reason, the *Alltel* case that the Chambers rely upon is also inapplicable in this appeal. See *Alltel Commc'ns, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 399 S.C. 313, 731 S.E.2d 869 (2012). The rule of statutory construction in *Alltel* applies only with respect to ambiguity in tax imposition statutes and whether a tax statute applies to a particular person. See *Alltel Commc'ns, Inc.*, 399 S.C. 313 at 321, 731 S.E.2d at 873 (considering whether the term “telephone company” applied to taxpayer).³ But section 12-6-2320(A)(4) is not an imposition statute, and there is no question that TSC is subject to South Carolina income tax. As a result, the rule articulated in *Alltel* is inapplicable to this case, which also explains why this pro-taxpayer rule of statutory interpretation has not been mentioned in any of the previous South Carolina alternative apportionment cases.⁴

At the heart of the Chambers’ argument is their belief that the Department should not be allowed to require combined unitary reporting—even when there is a finding that separate entity reporting does not fairly represent a taxpayer’s business activity. (Chambers Br. at 11-13).⁵ Under the

³ The “venerable rule” referenced in Chambers’ brief and stemming from English law is clearly focused on whether a statute imposes a tax on a certain person: “if the *person* sought to be taxed comes within the letter of the law, he must be taxed, however great the hardship may appear to the judicial mind to be. On the other hand, if the crown, seeking to recover the tax, cannot bring the *subject* within the letter of the law, the *subject* is free, however apparently within the spirit of the law the case might otherwise appear to be.” *United States v. Merriam*, 263 U.S. 179, 44 S. Ct. 69, 68 L. Ed. 240 (1923) (emphasis added) (quoting *Partington v. Attorney General*, L.R. 4 H.L. 100, 122); see also *S.C. Nat. Bank v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 297 S.C. 279, 376 S.E.2d 512 (1989) (considering whether statute applied to taxpayer); *Cooper River Bridge v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 182 S.C. 72, 188 S.E. 508 (1936) (considering whether statute applied to taxpayer); *Fuller v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 128 S.C. 14, 121 S.E. 478 (1924) (“where the language relied upon to bring the particular person or subject within the law is ambiguous or is reasonably susceptible of an interpretation that would exclude the person or subject sought to be taxed, the well-established general rule requires that any substantial doubt should be resolved against the government and in favor of the taxpayer”).

⁴ See *Media Gen. Commc'ns, Inc.*, 388 S.C. 138, 694 S.E.2d 525 (2010); *Carmax Auto Superstores W. Coast, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 411 S.C. 79, 767 S.E.2d 195 (2014); *Rent-A-Ctr. W. Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 418 S.C. 320, 792 S.E.2d 260 (Ct. App. 2016).

⁵ See the Department’s final brief at pages 22-25 for a detailed response to the Chamber’s assertions, repeated from and citing TSC’s brief, (1) that the ALC erred by failing to require the Department to make showing that the sales factor did not fairly represent TSC’s business

Chamber's reasoning, the only permissible deviation from standard separate entity reporting is if/when a taxpayer requests an alternative apportionment method (like combined reporting), which of course would only occur when the deviation benefits the taxpayer. This reasoning—heads the taxpayer wins, tails the Department loses—conflicts with the plain language of the statute, which contemplates both a taxpayer requesting an alternative apportionment method and the Department requiring one. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2320(A) (2022). Further, that reasoning conflicts with the South Carolina Supreme Court holding that the Department's alternative apportionment method need only be reasonable; the Department does not have to prove that its alternative formula is more reasonable than any competing method. *See Carmax Auto Superstores W. Coast, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 411 S.C. 79, 88, 767 S.E.2d 195, 199 (2014) (“we agree with the Department that the court of appeals misapplied *Media General* in holding the Department must prove that its alternate formula is ‘more reasonable than any competing method’”). The Chambers’ argument leads to absurd conclusions that render statutory language meaningless; this Court should disregard these arguments. *Lightner v. Hampton Hall Club, Inc.*, 419 S.C. 357, 365, 798 S.E.2d 555, 559 (2017).

As discussed above, *Media General* has already addressed this issue, and the Chambers make no effort to discuss, distinguish, or otherwise engage with *Media General*'s holding on this point. *See Media Gen.* at 151, 694 S.E.2d at 531 (“[T]he plain language of [Section 12-6-2320(A)(4)] clearly authorizes the Department to use ‘any other method’ to effectuate an equitable apportionment of the taxpayer’s income, including the combined entity apportionment method.”). In effect, the Chambers are asking this Court to ignore—or overturn—the clear holding in *Media General* and the plain language of section 12-6-2320(A)(4) and instead find that the statute is ambiguous. This Court should reject the Chambers’/TSC’s argument, as the ALC properly did. (R. pp. 118–28).

activities and (2) that the ALC erred because section 12-6-2320(A) can only be used to apportion TSC’s income because only TSC is the “taxpayer.”

II. Contrary to the Chambers' contention, the predictability of South Carolina's tax laws is furthered—not undermined—by the Administrative Law Court's decision affirming the Department's statutory authority to require an alternative method that effectuates an equitable apportionment of TSC's income to South Carolina.

The Chambers' brief argues that the ALC's decision impairs the predictability of South Carolina's tax laws, but the brief (predictably) offers no real concrete analysis of how or why. In reality, predictability and certainty are advanced through the objective application of statutory language to the facts of a particular case, which is precisely what the ALC did in this case. The ALC received thousands of pages of exhibits into evidence and heard hours of testimony from expert and fact witnesses. The ALC's Amended Final Order was over 70 pages long, containing extensive factual findings and a thorough examination of TSC's business activities, the nature of the intercompany transactions between the members of TSC's unitary group, and the impact of TSC's planned "tax restructuring" on its South Carolina income tax liability. The ALC's final order also carefully and thoughtfully applied the provisions of section 12-6-2320(A)(4) and relevant case law to these facts to determine whether the Department had properly required TSC to use an alternative apportionment method.

Objectively interpreting tax statutes advances predictability by ensuring that the tax laws are applied fairly and that neither the taxpayer nor the government is unfairly advantaged. In fact, one of the primary reasons the General Assembly has included the alternative apportionment provisions of section 12-6-2320(A)(4) is to safeguard against taxpayer manipulation of South Carolina's tax laws in ways that create *un*predictable tax revenues and *un*fair tax burdens. As TSC's own expert has observed, corporate taxes are designed to

reimburse states for the significant services provided to the business community. Requiring corporations to pay for services provided by the community [transportation infrastructure, public safety operations, the judicial system, schools and education system, etc.] satisfies the benefits theory of taxation—that is, that tax liabilities are imposed to compensate for the benefits received. . . . A corporation's success depends on the adequate provision of these services. . . . The only way the true beneficiaries of public services provided to corporations can reimburse the state is through the corporate income tax.

Richard D. Pomp, *Ruminations on Reforming Aspects of Connecticut's Tax Structure*, 41 State Tax Notes 651 (2006). Although tax-minimization strategies are not illegal, when taxpayers employ tax-planning techniques to exploit the weaknesses of a particular reporting system, it erodes the state's tax base and short-changes the state for the valuable services it provides to those businesses.

Ironically, the Chambers lament that unpredictability in the tax laws inflicts significant harms on the business community and the economy in South Carolina, including unnecessary compliance costs. (Chambers Br. at 5, 14) ("When tax obligations are unclear, businesses must hire lawyers and accountants to navigate the uncertainty, creating a deadweight economic loss."). The Chambers also suggest that alternative apportionment rules stand to interfere with all South Carolina businesses, including small businesses.

Yet the only businesses that benefit from the tax-avoidance schemes at issue in this case are large multistate businesses like TSC with the means to engage in complex tax planning strategies. (Chambers Br. at 14).⁶ Alternative apportionment rules, by definition, have no impact on small intrastate businesses. And it was TSC who first hired tax planners at a "big four" accounting firm to create and implement a self-described "Tax Restructuring" as a "strategy for reduction of [TSC's] state income tax expenses." (R. pp. 506–07, 532–34, 1031, 1315–19, 4456–67). The Chambers apparently have no quarrel with businesses hiring lawyers and accountants to form creative business structures designed to shift income out of South Carolina or reduce the business's South Carolina's

⁶ As TSC's tax policy expert has previously explained, the techniques that TSC employed as a result of its Tax Restructuring (e.g. intercompany expenses between members of a unitary group, or setting the prices charged for the provision of goods or services between affiliated entities within a unitary group) are "popular strategies" used by "multistate and multinational corporate groups to minimize state income taxes." Richard D. Pomp, *State Tax Reform: Proposals for Wisconsin*, MARQUETTE L. REV. at 56 (2006).

apportionable income by isolating the very profitable parts of its unitary business in corporations that are not taxable here.⁷

Consequently, the General Assembly has expressly delegated authority to the Department to require alternative apportionment methods as a way to correct those tax-avoidance techniques. This ensures a predictable tax base and helps level the playing field so that those corporate taxpayers who are engaged in business only in South Carolina do not bear a disproportionate share of the tax burden simply because they cannot use the same tax-avoidance strategies that multi-state taxpayers can. All taxpayers are entitled to predictability and fairness in the collection of tax revenues, not just those with the ability to hire “lawyers and accountants” to develop aggressive or sophisticated tax-planning techniques.

Further, although the Chambers’ brief makes the conclusory statement (citing TSC’s briefs as its authority) that the Department’s Revenue Ruling #15-5 provides no concrete guidance for taxpayers, the Chambers provide no actual analysis of why the Revenue Ruling is “vague” or imprecise. In fact, it is unclear whether the Chambers have actually read Revenue Ruling #15-5. Regardless, the Chambers’ predictability argument fails to meaningfully explain how the Department’s published guidance—which contains thirteen pages of detailed explanations concerning the application of section 12-6-2320(A)(4) and “when and how the Department will use combined unitary reporting as an alternative apportionment method” in light of the *Media General* decision—is unclear. (R. pp. 3728–36).⁸ In short, Revenue Ruling #15-5 gave taxpayers ample notice of the Department’s authority to

⁷ The Chambers’ reasoning actually encourages large multistate businesses to engage in form over substance restructuring to avoid South Carolina income tax, thereby shifting the overall state business tax burden from large profitable businesses to small intrastate businesses.

⁸ The Department’s issuance of Revenue Ruling #15-5 in the years following the *Media General* decision was predictable. Just five years prior in 2010, the South Carolina Taxation Realignment Commission (TRAC) issued its final report to the General Assembly, specifically noting that the Department “has the authority to require forced combinations under the recent *Media General* ruling.” (R. p. 3941).

require combined unitary reporting and the factors it would consider when determining whether to do so. (*See* Chambers Br., p. 14; TSC Br. p. 10).

Finally, in arguing that the ALC's decision undermines the predictability of businesses' tax obligations, the Chambers completely ignore the critical fact that TSC was filing in South Carolina using a combined reporting methodology prior to the years at issue in this dispute. After an audit of TSC's corporate income tax returns for 2008–2010, the Department informed TSC that it should file using an alternative apportionment method (combined unitary reporting) to fairly reflect TSC's business activity in South Carolina. (R. pp. 1296, 633-634; 4470-4508). TSC did so, then (without notice to the Department) subsequently reverted back to filing under the standard method. (R. p. 635). Nevertheless, the Chambers cannot credibly argue that the ALC's decision affirming the Department's imposition of combined reporting on TSC undermines predictability when TSC knew—and for a time, complied with—the Department's position with respect to how TSC should return its income in South Carolina.

At bottom, the Chambers' arguments are simply anti-tax. However, whether to tax is a policy decision that is squarely within the purview of the legislature; here, the General Assembly has chosen to impose an income tax and tasked the Department with administering its provisions. As the Supreme Court has confirmed, section 12-6-2320(A)(4) authorizes the Department to require combined unitary reporting, and the ALC correctly found that the facts of this case supported the Department's decision to require an alternative apportionment method for TSC—the same method that TSC had previously used in its South Carolina tax filings. The Chambers' unhelpful brief should be disregarded.

III. The Chambers' criticisms of the ALC's reasoning are without merit.

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